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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Chairman's Statement

I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the David MacBrayne Group, which comprises the companies operating 
the Clyde, Hebrides and Northern Isles ferry services.  For the first time, as required by the Scottish Government, the 
consolidated financial statements have been moved from UK GAAP to International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Group recorded an operating profit of £3.2m before net finance costs of £4.1m which were largely the result of the 
reversal of the fair value movement of fuel hedges recognised in the previous year, a technical adjustment resulting 
from the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.  Revenue from fares and other sources at £82.6m 
and operating costs at £176.7m were largely in line with expectations.  Total grants received from the Scottish 
Government, which reflect the continuing effect of road equivalent tariff on a number of Hebridean routes assessed at 
£6.5m per annum, amounted to £97.3m, an increase of 2.7% compared with the previous year. 

Group traffic carryings for the year were passengers 5.5m, cars 1.2m and freight metres 1.4m.  Passenger and car 
carryings on the Clyde and Hebrides routes decreased by 1% and 3% respectively compared with the previous year, 
while freight metre carryings increased by 5%.  Passenger and freight metre carryings on the Northern Isles routes 
increased by 1% and 4% respectively, while car carryings decreased by 3% compared with the previous year. 

Both of the main operating companies, CalMac Ferries Ltd. and NorthLink Ferries Ltd., performed satisfactorily in terms 
of the operational and functional targets set within their respective contracts with the Scottish Government. 

The new vessel serving Islay, MV Finlaggan, was introduced on service in May 2011 together with upgraded terminal 
facilities at Kennacraig and Port Askaig provided by Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd (CMAL) and Argyll and Bute 
Council respectively.  The works to upgrade the facility by CMAL at Port Ellen are ongoing. 

At the height of the Summer season 2010, the CalMac Ferries’ vessel, MV Clansman, experienced a major engine 
failure, which resulted in the vessel being out of service for a period of 6 weeks.  Vessels were redeployed to limit the 
impact on customers by ensuring that an appropriate level of sailings was provided on all routes affected throughout 
this period, although there were inevitably some capacity constraints. 

MV Helliar was deployed on the NorthLink freight operation on a time charter basis from January 2011, replacing MV 
Clare whose time charter had expired. 

CMAL, which provides the majority of the ships and terminal facilities for the Clyde and Hebrides ferry operations and 
is wholly owned by the Scottish Ministers, is the principal employer for the CalMac Pension Fund, which is the pension 
fund with the largest employee membership within the Group.  CMAL and the other participating employers are 
responsible for ensuring, on the basis of advice from the Trustees and their advisers and with approval from the 
Pensions Regulator, where appropriate, that any deficits are properly funded. 

The majority of the liability for deficits in the other funds with large employee membership within the Group, the 
Merchant Navy pension funds, lies with CMAL. 

The Board recognises that the safety of passengers and staff, and the security of operation of ships and shore 
facilities, as well as the protection of the environment, are of paramount importance.  Accordingly, the Board ensures 
that the associated practices and procedures which are in place across the Group are subject to regular and rigorous 
review.  The Group adopts a proactive approach to all these matters by keeping up-to-date with the latest information 
to ensure that it stays in the forefront of any developments. 

The road equivalent tariff pilot scheme, which was introduced at the Scottish Government’s request from October 2008 
on certain Inner and Outer Hebrides services, is being assessed by their appointed consultants.  The pilot scheme has 
been extended to operate until Spring 2012 and indications are that the scheme has generated considerable increases 
in traffic on the routes affected. 

Following approval by the Scottish Government under the terms of the Clyde and Hebrides ferry services contract, a 
number of timetable improvements were introduced from the start of the 2010/11 Winter season.  These are primarily 
aimed at providing better integration with bus and rail services, as well as improving connectivity for customers. 

We continue to participate in the Scottish Ferries Review in our capacity as ferry operators.  The review was 
commissioned by the Scottish Government with the principal aim of developing a long-term plan for the provision of 
ferry services throughout Scotland.  The Group submitted its response under the public consultation process in 
September 2010 and the response is posted on the Company’s website.  Publication and launch of the Scottish Ferries 
Plan is expected in due course. 

One of the issues raised in the Scottish Ferries Review consultation process was the possibility of tendering some 
routes on an individual basis.  The Board holds strongly the view that both the Clyde and Hebrides and Northern Isles 
ferry services should each continue to be tendered on a single network basis.  The principal reasons for the Board’s 
view are detailed in the Group’s response to the public consultation document which is available on our website. 

We were pleased to win the contract for the provision of the Gourock/Dunoon ferry service for a six-year period 
effective from 30 June 2011.  The service is operated by our newly-formed subsidiary company, Argyll Ferries Ltd., 
which charters from the parent company two passenger-only vessels procured specifically for this purpose.  Under the 
terms of this contract, we have provided a parent company performance guarantee to the Scottish Ministers.  The 
service was previously operated by our subsidiary company, Cowal Ferries Ltd., which ceased to trade with effect from 
29 June 2011. 
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Chairman's Statement

We were also pleased that, during the year, both CalMac Ferries and NorthLink Ferries won prestigious awards 
recognising excellence of service including, in the case of CalMac Ferries, the “Public Transport Operator of the Year” 
award for the second consecutive year. 

During the year, Rathlin Ferries Ltd., which formerly operated a ferry service in Northern Ireland, was moved to 
dormant status. 

We continued our tradition of holding Board Meetings at locations around the Group network, enabling Board Members 
and senior managers to meet both customers and local community representatives in an informal setting. 

In his first year as new Chief Executive, Archie Robertson’s primary responsibility has been the preparation, on behalf 
of the Board, of a comprehensive strategic programme which is being taken forward entailing widespread involvement 
of Directors and staff across the Group. 

Robert Sinclair resigned from office on 31 December 2010 to pursue other interests and I would like to record my 
gratitude for his greatly valued contribution during his 3-year period in office, both as a Board and a Board Committee 
Member. 

Under the Board’s leadership, the Group will continue to build on its strengths, focusing on maintaining and, where 
possible, improving safety, comfort and quality of service to our customers, whilst endeavouring to control costs with a 
view to providing best value for customers and the taxpayer. 

I would like to thank all the Group’s employees, management and Directors for their continued commitment, 
enthusiasm and professionalism which ensures that we can look forward to the challenges which lie ahead with great 
confidence. 

Peter Timms 
Chairman 
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Daibhidh Mac a' Bhriuthainn Earranta/Àireamh SC15304/31 am Màrt 2011

Aithris a’ Chathraiche 

Tha mi toilichte a bhith a’ taisbeanadh na h-Aithisg Bhliadhnail aig Buidheann Dhaibhidh Mhic a’ Bhriuthainn, a tha 
gabhail a-staigh nam buidhnean a tha lìbhrigeadh sheirbheisean aiseig Chluaidh, Innse Gall, agus nan Eileanan mu 
Thuath. Airson a’ chiad turas, le rùn Riaghaltais na h-Alba, tha na cunntasan daingnichte air an taisbeanadh a rèir 
Ìrean Eadar-Nàiseanta Aithisgean Ionmhasail seach UK GAAP. 

Nochd a’ Bhuidheann prothaid de £3.2m mus deach cosgaisean ionmhais de £4.1m a chunntadh. Bha seo gu mòr an 
urra ri atharrachadh teicnigeach ri linn a ghluasaid gu Ìrean Eadar-Nàiseanta Aithisgean Ionmhasail agus tionndadh air 
ionnsramaid ionmhais luach connaidh a chaidh aithneachadh ann an cunntasan na bliadhna roimhe. Bha teachd a-
steach air faraidhean is eile aig £82.6m agus cosgaisean aig £176.7m, an ìre mhath mar a bha an dùil. Thug 
cosgaisean co-ionann rathaid air cuid de sheirbheisean Innse Gall, air am meas aig £6.5m gach bliadhna, buaidh air 
tabhartasan airgid on Riaghaltas Albannach.  B’ e an t-suim sin £97.3m, àrdachadh de 2.7% bhon bhliadhna roimhe.   

Thar na bliadhna, ghiùlain a’ Bhuidheann 5.5m neach-siubhail, 1.2m càr, agus 1.4m meatair de luchd bathair. Bha 
àireamhan luchd-siubhail agus chàraichean sìos 1% agus 3% air slighean Chluaidh agus Innse Gall fa leth mu 
choinneamh na bliadhna roimhe, ach bha luchdan bathair suas 5%.  Bha àireamhan luchd-siubhail agus luchdan 
bathair air seirbheisean nan Eileanan mu Thuath suas 1%  agus 4%  fa leth, ach bha giùlan chàraichean sìos 3% air a’ 
bhliadhna roimhe. 

Choilean an dà phrìomh bhuidheann, Aiseagan CalMac Earr., agus Aiseagan NorthLink Earr., mar bu chòir mu 
choinneamh nan amasan seirbheis agus gnìomh as na cùmhnantan fa leth aca le Riaghaltas na h-Alba.  

Thòisich am bàta ùr MV Fionnlagan air seirbheis Ìle sa Chèitean 2011 is obair-leasachaidh air na cidheachan  aig  
Ceann na Creige agus Port Asgaig air a deisealachadh roimhpe le Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd. (CMAL) agus 
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal is Bhòid fa leth. Tha CMAL an sàs an leasachadh cidhe Phort Ilein. 

Aig àirde drip an t-Samhraidh 2010, dh’fhuiling an soitheach MV Clansman aig Aiseagan CalMac trioblaid einnsein a 
chuir à seirbheis i fad sia seachdainean. Chaidh bàtaichean a ghluasad gus a’ bhuaidh air luchd-siubhail a lùghdachadh 
le bhith a’ dèanamh cinnteach gun robh àireamh sheòlaidhean iomchaidh air gach slighe air an robh buaidh rè na h-
ùine seo, ach mar a bhiodh dùil, bha beagan lùghdachaidh air comas giùlan. 

San Fhaoilleach 2011 is a’ chùmhnant aig an MV Clare air crìochnachadh, chaidh an MV Helliar na h-àite air seirbheis 
bathair NorthLink air cùmhnant pàighte a rèir na h-ùine a dh’ obraicheas i.  

‘S e CMAL, a tha solarachadh a’ mhòr-chuid de na soithichean is na cidheachan airson seirbheisean aiseig Chluaidh is 
Innse Gall agus a bhuineas gu tur dha Ministearan na h-Alba, am prìomh fhastaiche dha Sgeama Peinnsein ChalMac 
dham buin an àireamh as motha de luchd-obrach na Buidhne. Tha uallach air CMAL dèanamh cinnteach, le stiùireadh 
Urrasairean agus an cuid chomhairlichean agus le aonta Riaghladair Pheinnseanan mar a bhios iomchaidh, gum bheil 
gainnead sam bith air a mhaoineachadh gu ceart. Tha uallach cuideachd air CMAL airson mòr-chuid de 
dh’uireasbhaidhean co-cheangailte ri ionmhasan eile dham buin àireamhan mòra den luchd-obrach, peinnseanan na 
Cabhlaich Mharsanta, a phàigheadh. 

Tha am Bòrd mothachail gum bheil sàbhailteachd luchd-obrach agus luchd-siubhail, tèarainteachd obrach air na 
bàtaichean agus air tìr agus dìon na h-àrainneachd nam prìomhachais.   Ri linn sin, tha am Bòrd a’ dèanamh cinnteach 
gum bheil modhan obrach a tha bualadh air sàbhailteachd is tèarainteachd feadh na Buidhne fo sgrùdadh cunbhalach 
agus mionaideach. Tha a’ Bhuidheann for-ghnìomhach le seo, daonnan a’ trusadh an eòlais as ùire gus dèanamh 
cinnteach na modhan as adhartaiche a chleachdadh.  

San Dàmhair 2008, air iarrtas Riaghaltais na h-Alba, stèidhicheadh sgeama dearbhaidh air cosgaisean co-ionann 
rathaid air cuid de sheirbheisean nan Eileanan a-Staigh agus Innse Gall agus tha seo ga mheasadh le comhairlichean 
taghte. Ruithidh an sgeama dearbhaidh gu Earrach 2012 agus tha coltas ann gum bheil trafaig air fàs gu mòr air na 
slighean fo bhuaidh. 

Le aonta an Riaghaltais fo riaghailtean chùmhnant sheirbheisean aiseig Chluaidh agus Innse Gall, chaidh grunn 
leasachaidhean clàr-ama a chur an gnìomh airson seirbheis a’ Gheamhraidh 2010-11. Tha iad sin ag amas as a’ mhòr-
chuid air ceanglaichean nas fheàrr le seirbheisean bhusaichean is thrèanaichean, cho math ri bhith a’ leasachadh 
sheirbheisean luchd-siubhail. 

Mar luchd-lìbhrigidh sheirbheisean aiseig tha sinn fhathast a’ gabhail pàirt anns an Sgrùdadh air Aiseagan Alba. Chaidh 
an sgrùdadh a stèidheachadh  le Riaghaltas na h-Alba le prìomh amas plana fad-ùine a dhealbh airson seirbheisean 
aiseig air feadh Alba. Rinn a’ Bhuidheann tagradh ris a’ choluadar phoblach san t-Sultain 2010 agus chithear sin air 
làrach-lìn na Companaidh. Tha dùil ri foillseachadh Plana Aiseagan na h-Alba  rè ùine. 

‘S e fear de na beachdan a thogadh anns an Sgrùdadh air Aiseagan Alba gum faodte cuid a shlighean a thairgsinn mar 
chùmhnant air leth. Tha am Bòrd làidir nam beachd gur còir seirbheisean Chluaidh, Innse Gall agus nan Eileanan mu 
Thuath leantainn mar sheirbheisean coileanta. Tha na prìomh argamaidean airson beachd a’ Bhùird air am mìneachadh 
ann an tagradh na Buidhne chun a’ choluadar phoblach agus tha sin ri fhaicinn air an làrach-lìn againn. 

Bha sinn toilichte cumhnant sia bliadhna, bho 30 Ògmhios 2011, a ghleidheadh airson seirbheis aiseig eadar Guireag 
agus Dùn Omhain. Tha an t-seirbheis ga lìbhrigeadh tron chompanaidh ìochdaireil ùr againn, Aiseagan Earra-Ghaidheal 
Earr., le dà bhata air mhàl/air fhastadh bhon phrìomh Chompanaidh.  ‘S ann do luchd-coiseachd a-mhàin a tha an dà 
bhata is chaidh an ceannach a dh’aon-ghnothach mu choinneamh sin. Tha sinn air barantas prìomh chompanaidh a 
thoirt dha Ministearan na h-Alba mar phàirt den chùmhnant seo. Bha an t-seirbheis seo roimhe ga lìbhrigeadh leis a’ 
chompanaidh ìochdaireil againn, Aiseagan Chòmhghall, a chrìochnaich malairteachd air 29 Ògmhios 2011. 
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Bha sinn cuideachd toilichte rè na bliadhna gun do choisinn Aiseagan CalMac agus Aiseagan NorthLink prìomh 
dhuaisean mar aithne air fìor sheirbheis. Bhuinnig Aiseagan CalMac  duais “Lìbhriche Còmhdhail Poblach na Bliadhna” 
airson an dàrna bliadhna . 

Rè na bliadhna, chaidh Aiseagan Reachlainn Earr., a bha roimhe a’ lìbhrigeadh seirbheis aiseig ann an Èirinn a Tuath, a 
chur na thàmh.  

Lean sinn leis a’ chleachdadh a bhith a’ cumail Coinneamhan Bùird feadh nan sgìrean a tha a’ Bhuidheann a’ 
frithealadh, a’ toirt cothrom dha Buill Bùird agus àrd mhanaidsearan coinneachadh ri luchd-cleachdaidh sheirbheisean 
agus ri riochdairean coimhearsnachd ann an suidheachaidhean neo-fhoirmeil. 

Air a’ chiad bhliadhna aige mar an Ceannard ùr, b’ e am prìomh obair a bh’aig Eardsaidh Robasdan prògram 
mionaideach innleachd a dheasachadh, às leth a’ Bhùird,  a thèid air adhart an lùib Stiùirichean agus luchd-obrach 
feadh na Buidhne.  

Leig Raibeart Mac na Ceàrdaich dheth a dhreuchd air 31 Dùbhlachd 2010 gus rùintean eile a fhrithealadh agus 
dh’iarrainn taing a thoirt dha airson a chuid saothrach luachmhor fad trì bliadhna mar bhall Bùird agus Comataidh 
Bùird 

Fo stiùir a’ Bhùird, tha a’ Bhuidheann a’ sìor neartachadh a cuid ealantais, a’ sònrachadh air gleidheadh agus, far an 
gabh sin dèanamh, leasachadh sàbhailteachd, cofhurtachd agus ìre seirbheis luchd-ceannachd, fhad ’s a tha sinn 
cuideachd a’ feuchainn ri smachd a chumail air cosgaisean gus an luach as fheàrr a thoirt dha luchd-siubhail agus 
luchd-pàighidh chìsean. 

Bu mhath leam taing a thoirt dha luchd-obrach, luchd-stiùiridh agus Buill Bòrd na Buidhne air fad airson an dìlseachd, 
an dealais agus am proifeiseantachd leantainnich a tha a’ ceadachadh dhuinn coimhead ris na dùbhlain romhainn le 
mòr-mhisneachd. 

Peadar Timms 
Cathraiche 
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Board of Directors 

Peter Timms CBE 
Chairman
Peter Timms is a resident of the island of Bute where he is Chairman of Flexible Technology Ltd.  He is also Chairman 
of several other companies in the private sector.  He formerly served as a Member of the Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise Board and Chairman of HIE Argyll and the Islands. 

David McGibbon 
Deputy Chairman
David McGibbon is a qualified accountant and an independent business consultant.  He is a former Non-Executive 
Director of Historic Scotland but remains an independent Member and Chair of the Audit Committee.  He formerly 
served as Chairman of the London Stock Exchange, Scottish Council and held the post of Finance Director and 
Company Secretary with Grampian Holdings plc. 

Archie Robertson OBE 
Chief Executive
Archie Robertson has an honours degree in Technological Economics and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Highways and Transportation.  He formerly held the posts of Chief Executive of the Highways Agency, and Operations 
Director at the Environment Agency of England and Wales.  These posts followed an international career with BP, in 
shipping, oil-refining and distribution.  He is also a Non-Executive Director of Capita Symonds Ltd. 

Ian Gillies 
Non-Executive Director
Ian Gillies is an Estate Factor.  He holds several public sector posts representing island interests and is a past 
Chairman of the Shipping Services Advisory Committee (South).  Based on Tiree, he has detailed knowledge of the 
issues affecting island communities. 

Alex Lynch MBE 
Group Finance Director
Alex Lynch is an associate member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and a Chartered Member of 
the Institute of Logistics and Transport.  He formerly held posts at Board level within the transport sector. 

Lorne MacLeod 
Non-Executive Director
Lorne MacLeod is a Chartered Accountant based in Oban, and specialises in working with social enterprises and 
charities in the West Highlands and Islands.  He is a Director of Sealladh na Beinne Moire, the community company 
which manages the estate covering the islands of Eriskay, South Uist and Benbecula.  He is also a Director of a retail 
and distribution business based in Skye. 

Norman Quirk 
Non-Executive Director
Norman Quirk lives on the island of Mull, and is a Chartered Accountant.  He is the former Managing Director of Saga 
Radio in Scotland, and previously held senior positions in several other radio broadcasting organisations in Scotland.  
He is also immediate past Chairman of the Scottish Chambers of Commerce, former President of the Glasgow Chamber 
of Commerce, Glasgow Junior Chamber of Commerce and the Citizens Theatre in Glasgow.  He is a Director of Mull 
Theatre and the former Executive Director and Vice Chair of Scottish Ballet. 

Primrose Stark 
Non-Executive Director
Primrose Stark is Non-Executive Chairman of Nucleus Training Limited, a joint venture of Energus and Gen II 
specialising in the provision of training to the nuclear, manufacturing and engineering sectors.  She is a Non-Executive 
Director of Competence Matters Ltd. and served as a Non-Executive Director of the Nuclear Decomissioning Authority.  
A Member of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, she was HR Director and a founder Director of 
First Engineering Ltd, having been part of the successful management/employee buy-out from British Rail.  She has 
also worked as a business transformation consultant in the social housing sector. 

George Taylor 
Group Technical Director
George Taylor is an Incorporated Engineer and a Member of the Institute of Marine Engineering, Science and 
Technology.  He formerly held posts at senior management level within the shipping industry. 
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Directors' Report

The Directors present their Annual Report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011. In the opinion 
of the Directors, the state of affairs of the Group is satisfactory. 

Principal activity and business review

The principal activity of the Group is the provision of ferry services in the Clyde Estuary and in the Hebrides and 
Northern Isles areas of Scotland, under public service contracts with the Scottish Government.  Under the terms of 
these contracts, the main operating companies within the Group, CalMac Ferries Ltd. and NorthLink Ferries Ltd., 
receive grant support from the Scottish Government; the Group also operates a limited number of services outwith 
these contracts without grant support. 

The Group recorded an operating profit of £3.2m before net finance costs of £4.1m, which were largely the result of 
the reversal of the fair value movement of fuel hedges in the previous year, a technical adjustment resulting from the 
adoption of international financial reporting standards.  This resulted in a loss before tax of £0.9m.  No dividends have 
been paid or are proposed. 

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include, in the case of CalMac Ferries, the uncertainties of the 
Scottish Government’s plans for road equivalent tariff and, in the case of NorthLink Ferries, the re-tendering of the 
Northern Isles ferry services as a result of the current contract period expiring in June 2012, since these services 
represent a significant part of the Group’s business. 

Any risk associated with the volatility of marine fuel prices is minimised by the Group entering a fuel hedge as and 
when market conditions indicate that this may be beneficial; the risk relating to the volume of fuel not covered by fuel 
hedge at any time is underwritten by the Scottish Government. 

Key areas of the performance and development of the business include safety, reliability, punctuality and standard of 
service. 

The performance of CalMac Ferries Ltd. is monitored by the Scottish Government under the terms of the Clyde and 
Hebrides ferry services contract.  This includes such measures as reliability and punctuality (allowing for weather 
disruption) and customer service levels. 

During the year, CalMac Ferries Ltd. achieved reliability and punctuality levels of 100% and 99.8% respectively after 
relief events such as adverse weather conditions, despite the difficulties associated with MV Clansman being out of 
service for a period of 6 weeks, and a 100% record was achieved on other targets.  The Company operated within the 
contract grant provision for the year. 

The performance of NorthLink Ferries Ltd. is monitored by the Scottish Government under the terms of the Northern 
Isles ferry services contract.  This includes such measures as reliability and punctuality (allowing for weather 
disruption), the availability of on-board services, services at the port terminals and the welfare of livestock carried. 

During the year, NorthLink Ferries Ltd. achieved reliability and punctuality levels of 99.8% and 99.3%% respectively 
after relief events such as adverse weather conditions, and a 100% record was achieved on the other targets.  The 
company operated within the contract grant provision for the year. 

It is anticipated that an Invitation to Tender for the next six-year contract to operate the services to the Northern Isles 
will be issued by the Scottish Government later in 2011.  NorthLink Ferries intends to submit a bid to operate the 
services to the Northern Isles for the six-year period commencing July 2012. 

The Board examines, on an ongoing basis, existing practices within the Group with a view to identifying more efficient 
and cost effective ways of delivering and improving standards of service.  The Board also keeps under review the 
corporate governance arrangements within the Group to ensure that the most appropriate arrangements are in place. 

Directors and their interests

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report and their current appointment periods, 
where applicable, are as follows: 

 P K Timms - 31 July 2012 
 D C McGibbon - 30 April 2012 
 C A Robertson - appointment period coterminous with holding the associated executive post 
 I Gillies - 30 April 2012 
 A M Lynch - appointment period coterminous with holding the associated executive post 
 L B MacLeod - 30 April 2012 
 N L Quirk - 31 December 2013 
 P Stark - 30 September 2012 
 G A Taylor - appointment period coterminous with holding the associated executive post 
 R Sinclair - resigned 31 December 2010 
 W L Sinclair - retired 30 June 2010 

None of the Directors had any beneficial interest in the share capital of the parent company or any of its subsidiaries 
at any time during the year. 

The Company is wholly owned by the Scottish Ministers. 
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Directors' Report 

International Financial Reporting Standards

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared, for the first time, under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union as set out in Note 1 Accounting Policies.  Consolidated financial 
statements were previously prepared under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP).  The effect of the 
transition from UK GAAP to IFRS, with an effective date of 1 April 2009, is set out in Note 24 First Time Adoption of 
IFRS and the accompanying Restated Balance Sheet. The accounts of the parent company continue to be prepared 
under UK GAAP. 

Safety

The Board recognises that safe operation of the ships and ports is of paramount importance and considers it essential 
that there is constant review of all practices impacting on safety and that there is constant vigilance over all aspects of 
the safety function. 

The responsibilities of the Ship Management function, including maintaining safety certification, compliance with safety 
of life at sea and marine pollution prevention rules, as well as compliance in respect of officer and crew certification 
and qualifications, are clearly separated from the audit function which is responsible for ensuring that all aspects of 
safety are properly dealt with. 

Regular internal reports on safety matters are submitted to the Safety, Environmental and Security Manager and a 
proactive approach is adopted in taking appropriate corrective and preventative action.  As part of this proactive 
approach, emphasis is placed on ongoing risk assessment and specific safety-related training. 

The safety arrangements within the Group also involve regular reporting to the Group Safety Committee and 
ultimately to the Board, thereby providing appropriate assurance with regard to all safety aspects of the Group’s 
operations. 

Employees

The Group has a policy of equal opportunities and non-discrimination in all aspects of employment. 

The majority of employees are formally represented by Trade Unions recognised for collective bargaining purposes.  A 
system of consultative committees is well established. 

Through either the formal negotiating or consultative process, or a combination of both, employees at all levels, 
directly or through their representatives, are provided with information on matters concerning them and are 
encouraged to be involved in the activities of the Group. 

All of these measures are kept under regular review with a view to identifying where improvements can be made. 

Policy of employment of people with disabilities

It is the Group's policy to consider applications for employment from people with disabilities on the same basis as 
other potential employees subject to the nature and extent of disability and the degree of physical fitness demanded of 
the position.  Ability and aptitude are the determining factors in the selection, training, career development and 
promotion of all employees with disabilities.  If any employee becomes disabled during the period of employment, the 
Group will, where possible, retain the employee for duties commensurate with the employee's abilities following the 
disablement. 

Political and charitable donations

The Group made no political or charitable donations during the year.  However, Group companies support a range of 
local organisations through travel-related sponsorship and CalMac Ferries Ltd. continues to be the main commercial 
supporter of the Royal National Mod. 

Research and development

The Group does not undertake research and development activities. 

Policy on payment to creditors

The Group’s policy is to make payment in accordance with the terms agreed with suppliers when satisfied that the 
supplier has provided the goods or services in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions. 

Financial instruments

The Group’s risk management objectives and policy are set out in note 18. 
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Directors' Report 

Disclosure of information to Auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group's auditors are unaware and each Director has taken 
all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Group's auditors are aware of that information. 

Auditors 

A resolution to re-appoint KPMG LLP as Group and Company auditors will be put to the members at the Annual General 
Meeting. 

On behalf of the Board 

C A Robertson 
Chief Executive 

20 July 2011 
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Report on corporate governance 

The Group is committed to high standards of corporate governance, business integrity and professionalism in all its 
activities.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group complied with all the relevant provisions of the Combined Code 
on Corporate Governance (June 2008) issued by the Financial Reporting Council (notwithstanding that the Company is 
not a listed company to which the provisions are directed) with the following exceptions: 

• there is no Board Nominations Committee as all Board appointments, including their roles and terms and 
conditions of employment, are determined by the Company’s sole shareholder, the Scottish Ministers 

• in view of the Group's responsibilities to take account of public sector guidelines, compliance with the provision 
that performance-related elements of remuneration should form a significant proportion of Executive Directors’ 
total pay package is not appropriate 

• the Remuneration Committee does not have delegated responsibility for setting remuneration levels for Non-
Executive Directors as this is a matter for Scottish Ministers 

• the Remuneration Committee does not become involved in recommending and monitoring remuneration for 
senior management below Board level; the overall parameters for pay awards are approved by the Board and 
detailed implementation is the responsibility of the Executive Directors 

• in view of the nature of the Group's status, compliance with those provisions that relate to share options, long-
term incentive schemes, dialogue with institutional investors and the conduct of the Annual General Meeting is 
not appropriate 

• the Board has considered the appointment of a senior independent Non-Executive Director but has decided not 
to make this appointment as it does not believe that it is necessary in respect of the Group's relationship with 
its shareholder; the Board has, however, decided that the appointment of a Non-Executive Director as Deputy 
Chairman is appropriate 

Board of Directors 

The David MacBrayne Ltd. Board is the principal decision-making forum for the Group. It has overall responsibility for 
leading and controlling the Group and is accountable to the parent company’s sole shareholder, the Scottish Ministers, 
for financial and operational performance. The Board approves Group strategy and monitors performance. The Board 
has adopted a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision, which is reviewed on an annual basis. 

The roles of the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive are distinct and separate, with a clear division of 
responsibilities. 

The Chairman leads the Board and ensures the effective engagement and contribution of all Non-Executive and 
Executive Directors. Executive Directors have responsibility for all operating companies' business and act in 
accordance with the authority delegated from the Board. Responsibility for the implementation of policy, strategy and 
operational management is delegated to the  Executive Directors. 

A minimum of four Board Meetings are held each year.  Board Meetings are structured to allow open discussion and all 
Directors participate in discussing the Group’s strategic aims and performance and financial and risk management. The 
Board is supplied with comprehensive information in advance of each Board Meeting, including financial and 
operational reports covering the Group's business activities. Members of the senior management of the Group 
companies regularly attend and make presentations at Board Meetings.  A representative of the parent company's sole 
shareholder attends each Board Meeting. 

Board balance and independence 

The Board comprises six Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman) and three Executive Directors.  The Board 
considers that, based on the criteria set out in the provisions of the revised Code, all Non-Executive Directors are 
independent. 

The Board functions effectively and efficiently and is considered to be of an appropriate size in relation to the Group's 
level of business and associated responsibilities. 

The Directors provide an appropriate mix of skills, experience and expertise. The Board Committees comprise Directors 
with a mix of relevant skills and experience such that no undue reliance is placed on any one individual. 

The Non-Executive Directors combine broad business and commercial experience with independent and objective 
judgement and constructively challenge and assist development of strategic matters. 

The balance between Non-Executive and Executive Directors enables the Board to provide clear and effective 
leadership and maintain the highest standards of integrity and professionalism across the Group's business activities. 
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Report on corporate governance 

Appointment of Directors 

Non-Executive Directors and the Chief Executive are appointed by Scottish Ministers for a three-year period and can 
be re-appointed subject to the limitations prescribed in the Code of Practice for Ministerial Appointments to Public 
Bodies in Scotland, as published by the Commissioner for Public Appointments in Scotland.  Other Executive Director 
Board appointments are coterminous with the holding of the associated executive post. 

Information, induction and professional development 

The Chairman ensures that all Directors receive clear, accurate and timely information on all relevant matters. Any 
requests for further information or clarification are dealt with or co-ordinated by the company secretarial function. 

The company secretarial function is responsible for advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all governance 
matters. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretarial function which is responsible 
to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed. All Directors are entitled to obtain independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense. 

On appointment, a Director receives a formal induction, including an introductory meeting with the Chairman and the 
Executive Directors.  Board Meetings are regularly held at locations across the Group’s area of operation which assists 
Directors in familiarising themselves with and understanding local issues. During their term of office, Directors 
undertake such professional development as is considered necessary in assisting them to carry out their duties as 
Directors. 

Performance evaluation 

The performance of Non-Executive Directors is assessed by the Chairman and the performance of Executive Directors 
is assessed by the Remuneration Committee.  The Chairman's performance is assessed by the Scottish Government. 

Board Committees 

To provide effective overview and leadership, the Board has established a number of Committees with specific 
responsibilities extending to all companies within the Group. The Committee Chairmanship and membership, all 
comprising Non-Executive Directors, is refreshed at appropriate intervals.  

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in discharging its responsibilities in relation to the financial 
affairs of the Group, the arrangements for accounting, financial reporting and regulatory compliance, the standards 
and effectiveness of internal control, the arrangements for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by Group companies and the arrangements for internal and external audit. The Audit Committee meets at least 
four times each year and, in addition, the Committee meets both the internal and external auditors privately. 

The Committee reviews and monitors the independence of the external auditors in relation to non-audit assignments, 
taking into account relevant ethical guidance. 

The Committee undertakes an annual evaluation to assess the independence and objectives of the external auditors 
and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into consideration relevant professional and regulatory requirements. 

The present members of the Committee are: 

D C McGibbon (Chair) 
I Gillies - appointed 19 January 2011 
L B MacLeod 
N L Quirk 
P Stark - appointed 19 January 2011 

The Board is satisfied that the Committee membership has recent and relevant financial experience. 

During the year, the Audit Committee conducted rigorous tender processes on behalf of the Board for the provision of 
both external and internal audit services. 

Remuneration Committee 

The primary function of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendations to the Board and, where 
appropriate, the Scottish Ministers on Directors’ pay and conditions, taking due account of the guidelines issued from 
time to time by the Scottish Ministers in respect of bodies in the public sector. In particular the main items in respect 
of which the Committee makes its recommendations are as follows: 

• basic remuneration levels for Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
• targets to be set for the purpose of the Executive Directors’ performance scheme 
• performance payment awards under the Executive Directors’ performance scheme 
• any matter concerning terms and conditions of service of Executive and Non-Executive Directors 
• any policy matters concerning benefits for Executive Directors 
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Report on corporate governance 

The remuneration levels for Non-Executive Directors are set by the Scottish Ministers each year.  The performance 
scheme for Executive Directors comprises: 

• financial and operational targets 
• personal targets for individual Directors 
• related performance scheme awards for various levels of achievement 

The present members of the Committee are as follows: 

P K Timms (Chair) 
D C McGibbon 
N L Quirk 
P Stark 

Safety Committee

The Safety Committee is responsible to the Board for monitoring the performance of executive management in respect 
of safety and security matters.  The Chairman and members of the Committee are appointed by the Board from 
amongst the Non-Executive Directors.  The Committee meets at least four times each year.  There is regular Executive 
Director presence at these meetings at the invitation of the Committee. 

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the safety and security performance of the main operating companies 
within the Group and for reporting on such performance to the Board.  The information which the Committee considers 
includes the monthly reports prepared by the Safety, Environmental and Security Manager and any other relevant 
papers or reports. 

The present members of the Committee are as follows: 

L B MacLeod (Chair) - appointed 19 January 2011 
I Gillies 
P Stark 

Communications Committee

The Communications Committee is responsible for monitoring, reviewing and advising on the Group’s corporate 
communications and marketing activities both external and internal.  The Chairman and members of the Committee 
are appointed by the Board from amongst the Non-Executive Directors.  The Committee meets at least four times each 
year.  There is regular Executive Director presence at these meetings at the invitation of the Committee. 

The present members of the Committee are as follows: 

N L Quirk (Chair) 
I Gillies 
L B MacLeod 

Board and Board Committee meetings 

The number of Board and Board Committee Meetings held during the year, and the individual attendance by members, 
was as follows (figures in brackets denote the number of meetings which members were eligible to attend): 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Board Audit Remuneration Safety Communications 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

P K Timms 3(4) 4(5) 
D C McGibbon 4(4) 4(4) 5(5) 
C A Robertson 3(3)
I Gillies 4(4) 2(2) 2(3) 
A M Lynch 4(4) 
L B MacLeod 4(4) 4(4) 3(3) 
N L Quirk 4(4) 3(4) 5(5) 3(3) 
P Stark 4(4) 5(5) 2(2) 
G A Taylor 4(4) 
R Sinclair 3(3) 2(2) 
W L Sinclair 1(1) 
______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

The Directors also regularly attend the Board Meetings of the main operating companies, CalMac Ferries Ltd. and 
NorthLink Ferried Ltd. 

Executive Directors and senior managers of companies within the Group are regularly invited to attend Board 
Committee Meetings as appropriate. 
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Report on corporate governance 

Relations with sole shareholder 

As disclosed in the Directors’ Report, the Company is wholly owned by the Scottish Ministers. 

The Scottish Ministers’ appointed Assessor attends all Board Meetings. 

Internal control 

The Board is responsible for the Group's system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness in order to 
safeguard the Shareholder’s investment and the Group's assets. The system is designed to provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance against material mis-statement or loss. 

In accordance with guidance issued in the document “Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code” 
which was published in September 1999 (the Turnbull guidance) procedures are in place to ensure that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group, which is subject to 
regular review by the Audit Committee and ultimately the Board.  The Board continues to take steps to ensure that a 
consistent approach to these procedures is adopted throughout the Group. 

The key elements of the system of internal control are as follows: 

Control structure 

The Group's control structure is the responsibility of the Directors and Managers at all levels. The Group's 
organisational structure has clear lines of responsibility and effective communication channels which ensures that best 
practice in managing risks and controls is consistently applied throughout the Group. 

In addition, the Group's internal and external auditors present reports to the Audit Committee which include any 
significant internal control matters which they have identified. 

Under ISO 14001 : 2004 accreditation, CalMac Ferries Ltd. has implemented an environmental management system 
which is aimed at minimising environmental risks and ensuring compliance with legislative and corporate governance 
requirements. 

Identification and monitoring of business risks 

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach to internal control through evaluating the likelihood and impact of risks, 
and resting responsibility for risk management and internal control in a designated owner. Procedures include an 
ongoing process of identifying, evaluating and managing the Group's key risks and, where appropriate, enhancing the 
systems which manage these risks. Regular review of the risks is undertaken by the Audit Committee and ultimately 
the Board. 

Major corporate information systems 

The Group operates a comprehensive budgeting and financial reporting system, which includes the preparation of 
strategic plans for each of the operating companies within the Group containing detailed annual budgets. 

The system provides monthly comparison of actual results against both financial year budget and annual contract, 
regularly revised forecasts, statements of financial position, cash flow and variance statements and key performance 
indicators, all of which are regularly reviewed by the Board. 

Standard financial control procedures, which provide assurance on the integrity of the Group's finances, operate within 
the majority of the companies in the Group.  In those companies where this is not presently the case, procedures are 
being developed to ensure a standard approach throughout the Group. 

Going concern

On the basis of the information available to them, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  Accordingly, the Directors consider 
it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

1212



David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Report on Directors’ remuneration 

Details of Directors' remuneration are as follows: 

Employer's 
Pension 

 Performance Benefits Total Contribution 
 Salary Fees Payment in kind 2011 2010 2011 2010

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors 
C A Robertson 115 - - 9 124 - 28 - 
A M Lynch 98 - 9 6 113 111 23 23 
G A Taylor 90 - 8 12 110 109 22 22 

Non-Executive Directors 
P K Timms - 31 - - 31 39 - - 
D C McGibbon - 30 - - 30 29 - -
I Gillies - 13 - - 13 22 - -
L B MacLeod - 10 - - 10 11 - -
N L Quirk - 18 - - 18 14 - - 
P Stark - 8 - - 8 7 - - 

Past Directors 
R Sinclair - 7 - - 7 11 - - 
W L Sinclair 42 - - 7 49 163 9 36

 345 117 17 34 513 516 82 81

The principal benefit in kind relates to the provision of a fully expensed car. 

Pensions 

The CalMac Pension Fund, to which each member currently contributes 6%, entitles members to a pension on 
retirement based on their Final Pensionable Salary which reflects the highest salary in each of the last five years of 
pensionable service.  The financial effect of the pension arrangements for Executive Directors who were members of 
the CalMac Pension Fund during the year is as follows: 

 Annual Pension payable After taking account The effect on the Transfer value 
 from normal retirement of inflation during the transfer value of based on 

date based on service year, the increase in the movement in accrued 
and salary at March annual pension is annual pension is pension 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

C A Robertson 2 - 2 - 19 - 26 - 
A M Lynch 13 12 1 5 28 70 221 187 
G A Taylor 6 4 2 2 22 24 85 58 

Allowance has been made in the above for the contributions made by Directors. Normal retirement age within the 
CalMac Pension Fund is 65. 

Service Contracts of Executive Directors 

The terms of appointment of continuing Executive Directors are as follows: 

Notice of termination Notice of termination 
Term by the Company by the Director 

C A Robertson coterminous with holding the 6 months 6 months 
 associated executive post 
A M Lynch coterminous with holding the 6 months 6 months 
 associated executive post 
G A Taylor coterminous with holding the 6 months 6 months 
 associated executive post 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent company financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In 
preparing each of the Group and parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 

by the EU; 
• for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been 

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Group and the parent company will continue in business. 

The Directors have decided to prepare voluntarily a Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance with Schedule 8 to 
the Companies Act 2006 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 
2008, as if those requirements were to apply to the Company.  The Directors have also decided to prepare voluntarily 
a Corporate Governance Statement as if the Company were required to comply with the Listing Rules and the 
Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules of the Financial Services Authority in relation to those matters. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent 
company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have 
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on 
the Company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF David MacBrayne Limited

We have audited the financial statements of David MacBrayne Limited for the year ended 31 March 2011 set out on 
pages 16 to 43.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial 
statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU.  The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is 
applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Directors have engaged us to audit the information in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited, which the Directors have decided to prepare 
(in addition to that required to be prepared) as if the Company were required to comply with the requirements of 
Schedule 8 to the Companies Act 2006 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 (SI 2008 No. 410). 

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's 
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 14, the Directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  Our 
responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB's website at 
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion: 
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as 

at 31 March 2011 and of the group's loss for the year then ended; 
• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 
• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; 
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 and under the terms of our engagement

In our opinion: 
• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report which we were engaged to audit has been properly prepared in 

accordance with Schedule 8 to the Companies Act 2006 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups 
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, as if those requirements were to apply to the Company; and   

• the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.  

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion: 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 

not been received from branches not visited by us; or 
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Directors have engaged us to review their Corporate 
Governance Statement as if the Company were required to comply with the Listing Rules and the Disclosure Rules and 
Transparency Rules of the Financial Services Authority in relation to those matters.  Under the terms of our 
engagement we are required to review: 
• the Directors’ statement, set out on page 12, in relation to going concern; and 
• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on page 9 relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine 

provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review. 

G Macrae (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
Glasgow 

20 July 2011 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
Note £000 £000

Revenue 2 179,908 175,119 

Cost of sales (167,684) (161,105)
______ ______

Gross profit 12,224 14,014 

Administrative expenses (9,052) (9,523)
______ ______

Operating profit 3,172 4,491 

Finance income 5/14 209 4,441 
Finance costs 5/14 (4,322) - 

______ ______

(Loss)/Profit before tax 4 (941) 8,932 

Taxation 7 (162) (198) 
______ ______

(Loss)/Profit for the year (1,103) 8,734 
______ ______

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

(Loss)/Profit after tax (1,103) 8,734 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 
______ ______ 

Total comprehensive expense/income attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (1,103) 8,734 

______ ______ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
Note £000 £000 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 3,351 4,342 
Intangible assets 9 - - 
Deferred tax asset 10 169 300 

______ ______ 

3,520 4,642 
______ ______ 

Current assets 
Inventories 11 2,280 1,722 
Trade and other receivables 12 10,767 11,433 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 30,439 23,174 
Derivative financial instruments 14 - 4,320 

______ ______ 

Total current assets 43,486 40,649 
______ ______ 

Total assets  47,006 45,291 
______ ______ 

Non-current liabilities 
Capital grants 16 (3,185) (4,017) 
Provisions 17 - (400) 

 ______ ______

Total non-current liabilities (3,185) (4,417)
 ______ ______

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 15 (23,092) (18,819) 
Tax payable - (223) 

______ ______ 

Total current liabilities (23,092) (19,042) 
 ______ ______ 

Total liabilities  (26,277) (23,459) 
______ ______ 

Net assets  20,729 21,832 
______ ______ 

Equity
Share capital 19 5,500 5,500 
Retained earnings 20 15,229 16,332 

______ ______ 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 20,729 21,832
______ ______ 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 20 July 2011 on its behalf by: 

P K Timms, Chairman A M Lynch, Group Finance Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

17 17

David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
Note £000 £000

Revenue 2 179,908 175,119 

Cost of sales (167,684) (161,105)
______ ______

Gross profit 12,224 14,014 

Administrative expenses (9,052) (9,523)
______ ______

Operating profit 3,172 4,491 

Finance income 5/14 209 4,441 
Finance costs 5/14 (4,322) - 

______ ______

(Loss)/Profit before tax 4 (941) 8,932 

Taxation 7 (162) (198) 
______ ______

(Loss)/Profit for the year (1,103) 8,734 
______ ______

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

(Loss)/Profit after tax (1,103) 8,734 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 
______ ______ 

Total comprehensive expense/income attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (1,103) 8,734 

______ ______ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

16



David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2011 

2011 2010 
Note £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/Profit for the year (1,103) 8,734 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 991 1,879 
Finance income (209) (4,441) 
Finance costs 4,322 - 
Income tax expense 162 198 
Amortisation of capital grants (832) (1,187) 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment - (347)

______ ______ 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 3,331 4,836 

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 764 (1,564) 
(Increase) in inventories (558) (253) 
Increase in trade and other payables 3,855 2,233

 ______ ______ 

Cash generated by operations 7,392 5,252 

Tax paid (272) (240) 
Interest paid (2) - 

 ______ ______ 

Net cash from operating activities 7,118 5,012
 ______ ______ 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 401 
Proceeds from the receipt of government grants - 163 
Interest received 147 200 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment - (302)

 ______ ______ 

Net cash from investing activities 147 462
 ______ ______

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7,265 5,474 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 23,174 17,700

 ______ ______

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 13 30,439 23,174 
______ ______ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies

David MacBrayne Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.  

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group”).  The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and 
not about the Group. 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. 

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements represent the first annual financial statements of the Group prepared and 
approved by the Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (“Adopted IFRS”), IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under 
IFRS.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these Group financial statements and in preparing an opening IFRS statement of financial position at 1 April 2009 
for the purposes of the transition to Adopted IFRS. 

The effect on the financial statements of the adoption of these standards and interpretations has been described under 
the ‘Change in accounting policy’ heading below. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
impairments and the fair value of the fuel hedge.  The basis of assessment of these is explained later in this note 1. 

Transition to Adopted IFRS 

The Group is preparing its financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRS for the first time and consequently 
has applied IFRS 1, First time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards.  The first date at which Adopted 
IFRS was applied was 1 April 2009. 

In accordance with IFRS the Group has: 

• provided comparative financial information 
• applied the same accounting policies throughout all periods presented 
• retrospectively applied all effective IFRS standards as of 31 March 2010 as required 
• applied certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions as applicable to first time IFRS 

adoption 

An explanation of how the transition to Adopted IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of the Group is provided in note 24.  

Measurement convention 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are 
stated at fair value: derivative financial instruments and financial instruments classified as fair value through the profit 
or loss. Non-current assets are stated at the lower of previous carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal. 

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the parent company's profit and loss account has not been 
included in these financial statements. 

Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights which are currently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases. 

Classification of financial instruments 

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: 

• at fair value through profit or loss 
• loans and receivables 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired.  The Directors determine 
the classification of the financial instruments at initial recognition. 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are derivatives designated as such on initial recognition. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.  They are included in current assets as they all have a maturity less than 12 months after the year 
end date.  The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in 
the statement of financial position. 

Recognition and measurement 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, being the date on which the Group commits 
to the purchase or sale transaction.  Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised 
at fair value [with related transaction costs expensed in the income statement]. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

The Group assesses at each year end date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets are presented 
in the income statement within financial income in the period in which they arise. 

Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in note 18. 

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. The Group enters fuel hedges on a forward contract basis for the sole purpose of 
ensuring that there is a stable cost base in this major area of expenditure. 

The value of the fuel price contract change is measured annually based on industry-standard fuel price indices.  The 
Group settles purchases in arrears based on fuel delivered and there are no upfront costs associated with the 
contracts. 

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables. 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  The criteria which the Group uses 
to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss includes: 

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor 
• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments 
• the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists. 

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate.  The asset’s carrying value is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the income statement. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services which have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers.  Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less and otherwise presented as non-current liabilities.  

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents 
for the purpose only of the cash flow statement. 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. Such 
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. The Group 
derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where constituent parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items of property, plant and equipment.  Any subsequent costs which may arise will be included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
The carrying amount of any replaced part is derecognised.  All expenditure relating to repairs and maintenance of 
property, plant and equipment is charged to the income statement as and when incurred. 

Buildings comprise lairage facilities owned by NorthLink Ferries Ltd. 

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each item 
or, where appropriate, part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated.  The estimated 
useful lives are as follows: 

buildings 20 years
ships 8 years
plant and equipment between 3 and 6 years 
motor vehicles 3 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each year end. 

Leases 

The Group leases ships, shore terminal infrastructure and office accommodation.  All of these leases are considered to 
be operating leases since a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assets are retained 
by the lessor.  Lease charges incurred under these operating leases are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Intangible assets 

Computer software 

Costs of development of computer software which are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when there is an ability to use or 
sell the software product and the expenditure attributable to the software product can be reliably measured.  The costs 
are depreciated over the anticipated useful life of the asset. 

Costs associated with the maintenance of computer software programmes are treated as an expense as and when 
incurred. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the weighted average principle 
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in 
bringing them to their existing location and condition.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses. 

Provisions

A provision is recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for which it 
is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate which reflects risks specific to the liability. 

Foreign currency translation

Day to day transactions are recorded in sterling at the exchange rates ruling on the dates of those transactions. 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment; a financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.  Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-
generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.  A cash 
generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 

Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of the Group’s investments in held-to-maturity securities and receivables carried at amortised 
cost is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate 
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables with a short 
duration are not discounted. 

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair values less costs of disposal and value in use. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment 

An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the 
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised. 

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available for sale is not reversed 
through profit or loss. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no 
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

Employee benefits 

With the exception of NorthLink Ferries Ltd., the companies within the Group are participating employers in the CalMac 
Pension Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme operated by Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd.  The assets of the 
scheme are held separately from those of Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd. in an independently administered fund.  The 
amount charged in the income statement represents the contributions payable to the Scheme in respect of the 
financial year. 

NorthLink Ferries Ltd. provides a stakeholder pension facility, which is available to all staff, and which is a defined 
contribution pension scheme.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement as incurred. 

Revenue 

Revenue represents the value of goods and services supplied to customers, net of value added tax, and operating 
grants receivable from the Scottish Government.  The Group’s revenue from customers comprises ticket sales for 
passenger and vehicle ferry passage and proceeds from associated retail operations.  Receipts for advanced and multi-
journey bookings are recognised with reference to time of travel and the deferred element of this income is shown 
under other payables.  Government grants are recognised in the financial year in which the associated deficits are 
incurred. 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components and for which discrete financial information is available.  An operating segment’s operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the Board, as chief operating decision maker, in making decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance.  Segment results which are reported to the Board include items 
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Capital grants

Capital grants are deferred and taken to the income statement over the anticipated lives of the assets to which they 
relate. 

Expenses 

Operating lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. 

Maintenance and repair costs 

Routine maintenance and repair costs, as well as vessel overhaul costs, are charged in the income statement in the 
financial year in which the work is performed.  In certain of the Group’s subsidiary companies, repairs to meet 
statutory or classification requirements are met by the vessel owners and recharged to the operator by increased 
charter hire charges.  Where any Group company provides ferry services under a fixed-term contract, at contract end, 
independent vessel surveys are carried out to establish any work required.  The agreed dilapidation costs are charged 
to profit and loss account at the end of the contract period. 

Finance income and expenses 

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income and movements in fair value of 
derivative financial instruments. 

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is 
established. 

Where circumstances permit, a dividend is payable annually by each of the main operating companies to the parent 
company.  The quantum of the dividend is dependent on the estimated profit which is expected to be achieved for the 
financial year and the cash position of each company. 

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

The Group is elected into tonnage tax.  However, certain activities within the Group are liable to corporation tax.  
Accordingly, the charge for taxation is based partly on ship tonnage and partly on the result for the year and takes 
into account tax deferred because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 
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David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Adopted IFRS not yet applied

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been 
applied in preparing these financial statements.  These are as follow: 

‐ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will introduce new requirements for classification and measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities. Other requirements are being added and as a result, IFRS 9 will eventually be a 
complete replacement for IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement. The Group has yet to 
determine the full impact of the Standard, but it may result in changes to the measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities. It is not expected to have any impact on the group; 

‐ Amendment to IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures simplifies the definition of a related party and eliminates 
a number of inconsistencies. It is not expected to have any impact on the group; 

‐ IFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments sets out the accounting for debt 
for equity swaps and confirms that equity issued in exchange for debt is measured at fair value with any 
difference between this fair value and the carrying value of debt extinguished recognised in the income 
statement; At present, the group has no plan to extinguish debt with equity instruments. It is not expected to 
have any impact on the group; 

‐ Amendment to IFRIC 14 Prepayment of Minimum Funding Requirement addresses the situation where 
entities are in some circumstances not permitted to recognise prepayments of minimum funding contributions 
as an asset. It is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. It is not expected 
to have any impact on the group. 

With the exception of IFRS9, the above standards and interpretations have been adopted by the EU. 

2. Revenue

Revenue represents gross revenue stated net of value added tax and is made up as follows: 

2011 2010  
£000 £000 

Fares and other income 82,568 80,297
Grants receivable from the Scottish Government (including amount relating to  
road equivalent tariff) 97,340 94,822 

_______ _______ 

179,908 175,119 
_______ _______ 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

Adopted IFRS not yet applied

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been 
applied in preparing these financial statements.  These are as follow: 
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financial assets and liabilities. Other requirements are being added and as a result, IFRS 9 will eventually be a 
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determine the full impact of the Standard, but it may result in changes to the measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities. It is not expected to have any impact on the group; 
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a number of inconsistencies. It is not expected to have any impact on the group; 

‐ IFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments sets out the accounting for debt 
for equity swaps and confirms that equity issued in exchange for debt is measured at fair value with any 
difference between this fair value and the carrying value of debt extinguished recognised in the income 
statement; At present, the group has no plan to extinguish debt with equity instruments. It is not expected to 
have any impact on the group; 

‐ Amendment to IFRIC 14 Prepayment of Minimum Funding Requirement addresses the situation where 
entities are in some circumstances not permitted to recognise prepayments of minimum funding contributions 
as an asset. It is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements. It is not expected 
to have any impact on the group. 
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2011 2010  
£000 £000 
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Grants receivable from the Scottish Government (including amount relating to  
road equivalent tariff) 97,340 94,822 

_______ _______ 

179,908 175,119 
_______ _______ 
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3. Segment reporting 

The Board has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker and reviews internal reporting based on the 
operating segments identified below. The Group has two Guernsey-based subsidiaries providing crewing services to 
other members of the Group, however all of the external operations of the Group are based in the UK. No single 
customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s revenue in either of the periods presented. 

Year to 31 March 2011 Clyde & Northern Gourock- Group Inter- Total 
 Hebrides Isles Dunoon Services Segment 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Turnover 55,753 25,012 1,783 20 - 82,568 
Inter segment turnover 2,779 40 - 5,446 (8,265) -
Grants receivable 58,113 36,064 3,163 - - 97,340

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment revenue 116,645 61,116 4,946 5,466 (8,265) 179,908 
Cost of sales (106,681) (57,750) (3,116) (137) - (167,684) 
Inter segment cost of sales - - (1,545) (546) 2,091 -

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment gross profit 9,964 3,366 285 4,783 (6,174) 12,224 
Administrative expenses (3,451) (1,117) (18) (4,466) - (9,052)  
Inter segment expenses (4,657) (832) (249) (436) 6,174 -

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______

Segment operating profit/(loss) 1,856 1,417 18 (119) - 3,172 
______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total assets 19,298 14,366 592 15,176 (2,331) 47,101 
Total liabilities (15,656) (10,430) (537) (1,900) 2,257 (26,266) 

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______

Segment net assets 3,642 3,936 55 13,276 (74) 20,835 
______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Year to 31 March 2010 Clyde & Northern Gourock- Group Inter- Total 
 Hebrides Isles Dunoon Services Segment 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Turnover 54,656 23,791 1,838 12 - 80,297 
Inter segment turnover 2,632 40 - 5,380 (8,052) -
Grants receivable 57,338 34,444 3,040 - - 94,822 

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment revenue 114,626 58,275 4,878 5,392 (8,052) 175,119 
Cost of sales (104,179) (53,745) (3,072) (109) - (161,105) 
Inter segment cost of sales - - (1,503) (479) 1,982 -

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment gross profit 10,447 4,530 303 4,804 (6,070) 14,014 
Administrative expenses (3,765) (1,260) (24) (4,474) - (9,523) 
Inter segment expenses (4,536) (897) (264) (373) 6,070 -

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment operating profit/(loss) 2,146 2,373 15 (43) - 4,491 
______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total assets 18,858 14,302 438 15,011 (1,469) 47,140 
Total liabilities (15,177) (10,366) (387) (1,742) 1,395 (26,277) 

______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Segment net assets 3,681 3,936 51 13,269 (74) 20,863 
______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

Group services represents the provision of administration services internally within the Group.  Inter-segment net 
assets represents the share capital of subsidiary entities. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

4. Profit on ordinary activities before tax 
Restated 

The Profit is stated after charging/(crediting): 2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Auditors' remuneration - audit of these financial statements 20 32
- audit of financial statements of subsidiaries 
      pursuant to legislation 79 90
- other services relating to tax 35 49

 - other services 43 125
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 991 1,345
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets - 534 
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 347 
Amortisation of capital grants  (832) (1,187) 
Agency staff costs   792 1,052 
Operating lease costs - buildings 2,903 2,751

- ships and motor vehicles 27,047 26,083 
Interest receivable   (209) (121) 
Interest payable   2 - 
Fair value movement on derivative financial instruments  4,320 (4,320) 

______ ______ 

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditor and their associates in respect of services to the Company, other than the 
audit of the Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to be 
disclosed on a Group consolidated basis. 

5. Finance income and costs 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Bank interest receivable 209 121 
Fair value movement on derivative financial instruments (note 14) - 4,320 

______ ______ 

Total finance income 209 4,441 
______ ______ 

Bank interest payable 2 - 
Fair value movement on derivative financial instruments (note 14) 4,320 - 

______ ______ 

Total finance costs 4,322 - 
______ ______ 

6. Employee information 

Staff costs (including Directors) 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Wages and salaries 50,757 49,985
Social security costs 1,857 1,700
Other pension costs 7,258 7,820

______ _______ 

59,872 59,505 
______ _______ 

Details of Directors' remuneration are given in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration. 

Employee numbers 

The average number of people employed by the Group, including Directors, during the year was 1,677 (2010: 1,640). 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

7. Taxation  

Recognised in the income statement 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Current tax expense      
Current year 28 228 
Adjustments for prior years 3 (5) 

______ ______ 

Current tax expense 31 223 
______ ______ 

Deferred tax expense 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 131 (20) 
Reduction in tax rate - (5) 

______ ______ 

Deferred tax expense 131 (25) 
______ ______ 

Total tax expense 162 198 
______ ______ 

The Group is elected into tonnage tax.  However, certain activities within the Group are liable to corporation tax.  
Tonnage tax is levied wholly on the net tonnage of certain vessels operated by the Group.  Accordingly, the amount of 
tonnage tax payable is not affected by the amount of accounting profits or losses related to the associated activities. 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

(Loss)/Profit before tax (941) 8,932 
______ ______ 

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 28% (263) 2,501 
Tax effects of:
Tonnage tax (842) (1,155)
Group relief - 1
Marginal rate of tax - (4) 
Non-deductible expenses 54 77 
Unrecognised deferred tax asset - (2) 
Deferred tax (131) 20 
Adjustment in respect of prior years 3 (5) 
Non-taxable finance expense/income 1,210 (1,210) 

______ ______ 

Current tax expense 31 223 
______ ______ 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

8. Property, plant and equipment 
Vehicles & 

Buildings Ships Equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost 
At 1 April 2009 2,471 442 4,572 7,485 
Additions during year 60 - 242 302 
Disposals during year - (442) (435) (877) 

______ ______ ______ ______ 

At 31 March 2010 2,531 - 4,379 6,910 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

At 1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 2,531 - 4,379 6,910 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 April 2009 41 284 1,438 1,763 
Charge for the year 121 114 1,110 1,345 
Disposals during year - (398) (142) (540) 

______ ______ ______ ______ 

At 31 March 2010 162 - 2,406 2,568 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

At 1 April 2010 162 - 2,406 2,568 
Charge for the year 127 - 864 991 

______ ______ ______ ______ 

At 31 March 2011 289 - 3,270 3,559 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Net book value at 31 March 2011 2,242 - 1,109 3,351 
______ ______ ______ ______

Net book value at 31 March 2010 2,369 - 1,973 4,342 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

9. Intangible assets 

Bid costs
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Cost 
At beginning of year 845 845 
Balance eliminated during year (845) - 

______ ______ 

At end of year - 845 
______ ______ 

Amortisation and impairment 
At beginning of year 845 311 
Balance eliminated during year (845) 534 

______ ______ 

At end of year - 845 
______ ______ 

Net book value at end of year - -
______ ______ 

The bid costs were incurred in respect of the tenders for both the Northern Isles ferry services and the Clyde and 
Hebrides ferry services.  The Directors considered it appropriate to write off the remaining balance during the year 
ended 31 March 2010. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

10. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 Assets Liabilities Net 
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 162 218 - - 162 218 
Other timing differences 7 82 - - 7 82 
 ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______

 169 300 - - 169 300
 ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______

Movements in deferred tax during the year 

1 April Recognised 31 March
2010 in income 2011
£000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 218 (56) 162 
Other timing differences 82 (75) 7

______ ______ ______ 

300 (131) 169 
______ ______ ______ 

Movements in deferred tax during the prior year 

1 April Recognised 31 March 
2009 in income 2010 
£000 £000 £000 

Property, plant and equipment 267 (49) 218 
Other timing differences 8 74 82 

______ ______ ______ 

275 25 300 
______ ______ ______ 

The Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £3,000 (2010: £3,000) in respect of timing differences. 

11. Inventories 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Fuels and lubricants 1,511 957 
Consumable stores 383 382 
Retail stocks 386 383 

______ ______ 

2,280 1,722 
______ ______ 

Inventories are shown after write downs amounting to £nil (2010: £nil) 

Inventories, excluding retail stocks, are held for the operating requirements of the Group and not for resale. Of the 
retail stocks held, £nil (2010: £nil) is expected to be recovered in more than 12 months.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

12. Trade and other receivables 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade receivables 3,551 3,403 
Other receivables 1,838 3,415 
Prepayments and accrued income 5,381 4,615 

______ ______ 

10,770 11,433 
______ ______ 

Trade receivables are shown net of allowance for doubtful debts as detailed in Note 18. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables are all expressed in £ sterling. 

Included within prepayments and accrued income is £1,080,000 (2010: £2,582,200) expected to be charged in the 
Income Statement after more than 12 months.  There is a guarantee in place in relation to this prepayment. 

Other receivables includes revenue grant due by the Scottish Government, insurance claims, fuel tax and value added 
tax recoverable. 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Bank balances and cash in hand 30,439 23,174 
______ ______ 

14. Derivative financial instruments 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Financial instrument designated as fair value through profit or loss - 4,320 
______ ______ 

The financial instrument was a fuel derivative forward contract involving a number of different fuel types and covering 
a substantial proportion of the Group’s fuel requirements from April 2009 to March 2011.  The derivative is stated at 
its fair value which is taken to be its market value.  Changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the 
income statement are included within finance income or costs as appropriate.  

15. Trade and other payables 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade payables 5,380 4,335 
Other payables and accruals 12,905 10,478 
Deferred income 4,807 4,006 

______ ______ 

23,092 18,819 
______ ______ 

All trade and other payables were expected to be settled within 12 months in relation to both this and the previous 
year.

16. Capital grants 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Balance at beginning of year 4,017 5,324 
Grants received during year - 163 
Amount amortised during year (832) (1,470) 

______ ______ 

Balance at end of year 3,185 4,017 
______ ______ 

Certain capital assets of the Group have been funded by the Scottish Government. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

12. Trade and other receivables 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade receivables 3,551 3,403 
Other receivables 1,838 3,415 
Prepayments and accrued income 5,381 4,615 

______ ______ 

10,770 11,433 
______ ______ 

Trade receivables are shown net of allowance for doubtful debts as detailed in Note 18. 

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables are all expressed in £ sterling. 

Included within prepayments and accrued income is £1,080,000 (2010: £2,582,200) expected to be charged in the 
Income Statement after more than 12 months.  There is a guarantee in place in relation to this prepayment. 

Other receivables includes revenue grant due by the Scottish Government, insurance claims, fuel tax and value added 
tax recoverable. 

13. Cash and cash equivalents 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Bank balances and cash in hand 30,439 23,174 
______ ______ 

14. Derivative financial instruments 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Financial instrument designated as fair value through profit or loss - 4,320 
______ ______ 

The financial instrument was a fuel derivative forward contract involving a number of different fuel types and covering 
a substantial proportion of the Group’s fuel requirements from April 2009 to March 2011.  The derivative is stated at 
its fair value which is taken to be its market value.  Changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the 
income statement are included within finance income or costs as appropriate.  

15. Trade and other payables 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade payables 5,380 4,335 
Other payables and accruals 12,905 10,478 
Deferred income 4,807 4,006 

______ ______ 

23,092 18,819 
______ ______ 

All trade and other payables were expected to be settled within 12 months in relation to both this and the previous 
year.

16. Capital grants 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Balance at beginning of year 4,017 5,324 
Grants received during year - 163 
Amount amortised during year (832) (1,470) 

______ ______ 

Balance at end of year 3,185 4,017 
______ ______ 

Certain capital assets of the Group have been funded by the Scottish Government. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

17. Provisions 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Balance at beginning of year 400 400 
Amount written off during the year (400) - 

______ ______ 

Balance at end of year - 400 
______ ______ 

During the current financial year, after making appropriate enquiries, the Directors concluded that this provision which 
was held in respect of employment-related legal claims in NorthLink Ferries Ltd. was no longer required and, 
accordingly, it was written off. 

18. Financial instruments 

Overview 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.  Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and overview of the Group’s risk management framework. 

The Audit Committee oversees management procedures in monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Group. 

Credit risk 

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables.  The amounts included in the balance 
sheet are net of allowances for doubtful debts, which have been estimated by management based on prior experience 
and known factors at the balance sheet date, which may indicate that a provision is required. 

Trade receivables 

There are well-established systems of credit control in place throughout the Group.  These incorporate formal credit 
application procedures including credit checks, regular monitoring of customers’ accounts by dedicated credit 
controllers and, where considered appropriate, the use of credit insurance facilities. 

Other receivables  

Other receivables largely consist of fuel tax recoverable and vessel damage insurance claims. 

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables.  The general allowance is determined based on historical data including payment statistics for 
similar financial assets. 

Prepayments

Prepayments largely relate to advance payments on vessel charters. 

Liquidity risk 

The Group’s liquidity risk is that it will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group has no borrowings. 
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18. Financial instruments (continued)

Market risk 

The Group’s market risk is primarily that changes in market prices, such as fuel prices, will affect the Group’s cost 
base or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

Generally the Group seeks to minimise this risk through hedge arrangements designed to manage a substantial 
proportion of the Group’s overall exposure.  The hedge arrangements take account of the different fuel types which 
the Group purchases. 

The most recent fuel hedge expired in March 2011, but it is the Group’s intention to utilise this arrangement again 
when market timing is right. 

Credit risk 

Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date was: 

Note Carrying amount 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade and other receivables 12 5,778 4,849 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 30,439 23,174 

______ ______ 

36,217 28,023 
 ______ ______

The balance of trade and other receivables shown excludes prepayments and statutory receivables which are not 
classified as financial instruments.  Credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date was all in relation to the 
United Kingdom. 

The Group’s exposure is spread across a large number of customers.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is likely to 
have increased in the current economic climate but the Directors do not consider this to have had a significant impact 
as the risk is spread across a large number of customers. 

The individually impaired receivables relate to customers facing cash flow problems as a result of the current difficult 
trading conditions.  All receivables are expected to be recovered within 6 months from the year end date. 

Impairment losses 

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was: 
2011 2010 

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Not past due 5,359 59 4,482 53
Past due 0-30 days 483 66 465 45
Past due 31-120 days 54 25 156 156
More than 120 days 32 - 6 6

______ ______ ______ ______ 

5,928 150 5,109 260
______ ______ ______ ______ 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Balance at beginning of year 260 305 
Impairment loss reversed during year (110) (45) 

______ ______ 

Balance at end of year 150 260 
______ ______ 

The impairment loss at 31 March  2011 of £150,000 (2010: £260,000) is a provision in respect of receivables due from 
customers. 

Impairment losses are accounted for separately unless the Group is satisfied that there is no likelihood of recovery of 
the amount owing, in which case the amount is considered irrecoverable and is written off against the financial asset 
directly.
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18. Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the year end date, payments based on the position 
at the year end date and excluding the impact of netting agreements. 

31 March 2011 

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 
amount cash flows or less months 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non derivative 
 financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables 16,721 16,721 16,721 -

______ ______ ______ ______ 

31 March 2010 

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 
amount cash flows or less months 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non derivative 
 financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 14,339 14,339 14,339 -

______ ______ ______ ______ 

The balance of trade and other payables shown above excludes deferred income and statutory liabilities which are not 
classified as financial instruments. 

Fair value hierarchy 

The only category of financial instrument carried at fair value is derivative financial assets.  This has been defined as a 
Level 2 instrument in accordance with the following definitions: 

• Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices) 
• Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

Derivative financial instruments 

The only derivative financial instrument held was a fuel forward derivative used for hedging which expired on 31 March 
2011, as disclosed in note 14.  This is accounted for at fair value and the value is based on observable data for similar 
instruments at each year end. 

The hedge related to a significant percentage of the forecast marine fuel volumes over this period and this percentage 
could be increased at any time should market conditions indicate that this may be beneficial.  Under the terms of the 
hedge, the hedge provider took the risk of the impact of all upward fuel price movements, and consequently there was 
no risk to the Group. 

Under the terms of the respective public service contracts under which the main operating companies provide ferry 
services, the risk related to the movement on fuel prices on the volume not covered by fuel hedge at any time is taken 
by the Scottish Government. 

The Directors consider that these arrangements provide appropriate stability of cost base in this significant expense 
area.

Interest rate risk

The Group holds funds in interest bearing deposit accounts with maturity dates of 12 months.  The interest rates on 
these deposit accounts are fixed. 
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18. Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the year end date, payments based on the position 
at the year end date and excluding the impact of netting agreements. 

31 March 2011 

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 
amount cash flows or less months 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non derivative 
 financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables 16,721 16,721 16,721 -

______ ______ ______ ______ 

31 March 2010 

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6-12 
amount cash flows or less months 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non derivative 
 financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 14,339 14,339 14,339 -

______ ______ ______ ______ 

The balance of trade and other payables shown above excludes deferred income and statutory liabilities which are not 
classified as financial instruments. 

Fair value hierarchy 

The only category of financial instrument carried at fair value is derivative financial assets.  This has been defined as a 
Level 2 instrument in accordance with the following definitions: 

• Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices) 
• Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

Derivative financial instruments 

The only derivative financial instrument held was a fuel forward derivative used for hedging which expired on 31 March 
2011, as disclosed in note 14.  This is accounted for at fair value and the value is based on observable data for similar 
instruments at each year end. 

The hedge related to a significant percentage of the forecast marine fuel volumes over this period and this percentage 
could be increased at any time should market conditions indicate that this may be beneficial.  Under the terms of the 
hedge, the hedge provider took the risk of the impact of all upward fuel price movements, and consequently there was 
no risk to the Group. 

Under the terms of the respective public service contracts under which the main operating companies provide ferry 
services, the risk related to the movement on fuel prices on the volume not covered by fuel hedge at any time is taken 
by the Scottish Government. 

The Directors consider that these arrangements provide appropriate stability of cost base in this significant expense 
area.

Interest rate risk

The Group holds funds in interest bearing deposit accounts with maturity dates of 12 months.  The interest rates on 
these deposit accounts are fixed. 
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Fair values

Fair values and carrying amounts 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position, are as follows: 

31 March 2011 31 March 2010 
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
amount value amount value 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Loans and receivables 5,778 5,778 6,832 6,832 
Cash and cash equivalents 30,439 30,439 23,174 23,174 
Derivative financial instruments - - 4,320 4,320 
Trade and other payables (16,721) (16,721) (14,339) (14,339) 

______ ______ ______ ______ 

19,496 19,496 19,987 19,987 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Estimation of fair values 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values shown above: 

Trade and other receivables/payables – the fair value of receivables and payables with a remaining life of less 
than one year is deemed to be the same as the book value. 

Derivative financial instruments – The balance represents the fair value of forward fuel contracts is based on their 
listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the 
difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract 
using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 

Cash and cash equivalents – the fair value is deemed to be the same as the carrying amount due to the short 
maturity of these instruments. 

19. Share capital 

2011 2010
£000 £000

Authorised 
6,800,000 Ordinary Shares of £1 each 6,800 6,800 

______ ______
Allotted issued and fully paid 
5,500,002 Ordinary shares of £1 each 5,500 5,500

______ ______

20. Statement of changes in equity 

Share Retained Total 
Capital earnings equity 

£000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2009 5,500 7,598 13,098 
Total recognised income and expense - 8,734 8,734 
Other comprehensive income - - -

______ ______ ______ 

At 31 March 2010 5,500 16,332 21,832 
______ ______ ______ 

At 1 April 2010 5,500 16,332 21,832 
Total recognised income and expense - (1,103) (1,103) 
Other comprehensive income - - -

______ ______ ______ 
   
At 31 March 2011 5,500 15,229 20,729 

______ ______ ______

The aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are charged or credited to equity is £nil. 
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21. Pension arrangements 

A large number of employees within the Group are members of the CalMac Pension Fund which is a defined benefit 
scheme.  With the exception of NorthLink Ferries Ltd., the companies within the Group are participating employers in 
this scheme which is operated by Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd., a company wholly owned by Scottish Ministers.  
Accordingly, pension contributions are accounted for as if the scheme were defined contribution. 

A number of other employees participate in one of the Merchant Navy Pension Funds.  As these pension schemes are 
all industry-wide, contributions are accounted for on a defined contribution basis. 

NorthLink Ferries Ltd. provides a stakeholder pension facility, which is available to all staff, and which is a defined 
contribution pension scheme. 

The amount charged to profit and loss account in respect of employer contributions to Pension Schemes is: 

Group Group 
2011 2010 
£000 £000 

CalMac Pension Fund   5,933 5,478
Other schemes   1,325 2,342

______ ______ 

7,258 7,820 
______ ______ 

Contributions to be paid to pension schemes included in payables 198 1,787
______ ______ 

Included within amounts payable in respect of other schemes in 2010 is an amount of £1,600,000 which was due in 
respect of active member employer deficit contributions to the Merchant Navy Officers Pension Fund. 

22. Other financial commitments

Future aggregate minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

Ships & motor vehicles Buildings Total 
Restated  Restated  Restated 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Within one year 33,456 30,128 2,818 2,802 36,274 32,930 
In the second to fifth years 31,212 58,549 3,450 6,139 34,662 64,688 
 ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

64,668 88,677 6,268 8,941 70,936 97,618 
 ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ ______ 

The Group has a number of operating leases in respect of buildings, ships and motor vehicles. 

During the year, £29,950,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases 
(2010 restated: £28,834,000). 
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23. Related party transactions 

Identification of related parties 

The following have been identified as related parties of the Group: 

• Scottish Ministers as sole shareholder of the Company 
• Caledonian Maritime Assets Limited due to common ownership by the Scottish Ministers 
• Key management personnel  

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and do not require to 
be disclosed. Related party disclosures of the Company are within note 10 to the parent company financial statements.  

During the year, Group subsidiaries entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not members 
of the Group: 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Transactions during the year – receivable/(payable):

Scottish Ministers 
- revenue and capital grants 97,340 95,035 

Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd. 
- vessel leasing charges (13,703) (13,041) 
- harbour, property and equipment access charges (2,154) (2,059) 
- provision of staff (73) (67) 
- vessel modification and other costs  1,058 783 
- vessel new build costs  59 37 
- harbour management and maintenance 26 863 
- ferry travel costs 6 6 

______ ______ 

Amounts due at end of year – receivable/(payable):

Scottish Ministers 
- revenue grants (4,281) 886 

Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd. 
- harbour, property and equipment access charges (14) - 
- provision of staff (26) (6) 
- vessel modification and other costs 1,008 790 
- vessel new build costs  138 6 
- harbour management and maintenance 2 10 
- ferry travel costs  1 - 

______ ______ 

During the year, CalMac Ferries Ltd. acted as agent for Caledonian Maritime Assets Ltd. in relation to certain elements 
of new vessel builds.  The associated funds were paid to third parties and recovered from Caledonian Maritime Assets 
Ltd.

Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel are defined as the Executive Directors of the Company and their remuneration is disclosed 
in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration.  There were no other transactions or amounts due at year end relating to 
key management personnel. 

24. Explanation of transition to IFRS 

As stated in note 1, these are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared with adopted IFRS. The 
accounting policies set out in note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2011 and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2010.  

In preparing the opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with UK GAAP.  An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to Adopted 
IFRS has affected the Group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows is set out in the following tables 
and in the notes that accompany them. 

The rules for first time adoption of IFRS are set out in IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards”. In general a company is required to determine its IFRS accounting policies and apply these retrospectively 
to determine its balance sheet, at the date of transition, under IFRS.  

The reconciliations of equity at 1 April 2009 (date of transition to IFRS) and at 31 March 2010 (date of last UK GAAP 
financial statements) and the reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 are required under IFRS in the 
year of transition. 
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24. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity 
at 1 April 2009 (date of transition to IFRS)

Previously 
reported Effect of Restated 

under UK Transition under 
GAAP* to IFRS IFRS 

£000 £000 £000 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 5,722 - 5,722 
Intangible assets 534 - 534 
Deferred tax 275 - 275

______ ______ ______

6,531 - 6,531
______ ______ ______

Current assets 
Stocks 1,469 - 1,469 
Trade and other receivables 9,948 - 9,948 
Cash and cash equivalents 17,700 - 17,700
Financial instruments - - -

______ ______ ______

29,117 - 29,117
______ ______ ______

Total assets 35,648 - 35,648 
______ ______ ______ 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (16,586) - (16,586) 
Tax payable (240) - (240)

______ ______ ______

(16,826) - (16,826)
______ ______ ______ 

Non-current liabilities 
Capital grants (5,324) - (5,324) 
Provisions (400) - (400) 

______ ______ ______

(5,724) - (5,724)
______ ______ ______

Total liabilities (22,550) - (22,550)
______ ______ ______

Net assets 13,098 - 13,098
______ ______ ______ 

Equity
Share capital 5,500 - 5,500 
Retained earnings 7,598 - 7,598 

______ ______ ______ 

Total equity 13,098 - 13,098
______ ______ ______ 

* In IFRS Format 

No impact of transition to IFRS has been identified as at 1 April 2009. 

3737



David MacBrayne Limited/Company Number SC15304/31 March 2011 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

24. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity 
at 31 March 2010 (date of last UK GAAP financial statements) 

Previously 
reported IAS 39 Effect of Restated 

under UK Financial Transition under 
GAAP* Instruments to IFRS IFRS 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 4,342 - - 4,342 
Intangible assets - - - -
Deferred tax 300 - - 300

______ ______ ______ ______

4,642 - - 4,642
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Current assets 
Stocks 1,722 - - 1,722
Trade and other receivables 11,433 - - 11,433 
Cash and cash equivalents 23,174 - - 23,174
Derivative financial instruments - 4,320 4,320 4,320

______ ______ ______ ______

36,329 4,320 4,320 40,649 
______ ______ ______ ______

Total assets 40,971 4,320 4,320 45,291
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (18,819) - - (18,819)
Tax payable (223) - - (223)

______ ______ ______ ______

(19,042) - - (19,042)
______ ______ ______ ______

Non-current liabilities 
Capital grants (4,017) - - (4,017)
Provisions (400) - - (400)

______ ______ ______ ______

(4,417) - - (4,417) 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total liabilities (23,459) - - (23,459)
______ ______ ______ ______

Net assets 17,512 4,320 4,320 21,832 
______ ______ ______ ______

Equity
Share capital 5,500 - - 5,500
Retained earnings 12,012 4,320 4,320 16,332 

______ ______ ______ ______
   
Total equity 17,512 4,320 4,320 21,832 

______ ______ ______ ______

* In IFRS Format 
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24. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity 
at 31 March 2010 (date of last UK GAAP financial statements) 

Previously 
reported IAS 39 Effect of Restated 

under UK Financial Transition under 
GAAP* Instruments to IFRS IFRS 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 4,342 - - 4,342 
Intangible assets - - - -
Deferred tax 300 - - 300

______ ______ ______ ______

4,642 - - 4,642
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Current assets 
Stocks 1,722 - - 1,722
Trade and other receivables 11,433 - - 11,433 
Cash and cash equivalents 23,174 - - 23,174
Derivative financial instruments - 4,320 4,320 4,320

______ ______ ______ ______

36,329 4,320 4,320 40,649 
______ ______ ______ ______

Total assets 40,971 4,320 4,320 45,291
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (18,819) - - (18,819)
Tax payable (223) - - (223)

______ ______ ______ ______

(19,042) - - (19,042)
______ ______ ______ ______

Non-current liabilities 
Capital grants (4,017) - - (4,017)
Provisions (400) - - (400)

______ ______ ______ ______

(4,417) - - (4,417) 
______ ______ ______ ______ 

Total liabilities (23,459) - - (23,459)
______ ______ ______ ______

Net assets 17,512 4,320 4,320 21,832 
______ ______ ______ ______

Equity
Share capital 5,500 - - 5,500
Retained earnings 12,012 4,320 4,320 16,332 

______ ______ ______ ______
   
Total equity 17,512 4,320 4,320 21,832 

______ ______ ______ ______

* In IFRS Format 
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24. Explanation of transition to IFRS (continued) 

Reconciliation of profit 
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Previously 
reported IAS 39 Restated 

under UK Financial under 
GAAP* Instruments IFRS 

£000 £000 £000

Revenue 175,119 - 175,119 

Cost of sales (161,105) - (161,105) 
______ ______ ______ 

Gross profit 14,014 - 14,014 

Administrative expenses (9,523) - (9,523) 
______ ______ ______

Operating profit 4,491 - 4,491 

Finance income 121 4,320 4,441
______ ______ ______

Profit before tax 4,612 4,320 8,932 

Taxation (198) - (198) 
______ ______ ______

Profit after Tax 4,414 4,320 8,734
______ ______ ______ 

* In IFRS format 

Financial Instruments under IAS 39 

Under UK GAAP, the fair value of derivative forward contracts used for hedging the Group’s exposure to movements in 
underlying fuel prices was not recognised on the balance sheet. In accordance with IAS 39, the fair value of such 
derivatives is recognised on the statement of financial position as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. 
Movements in the fair value of the instruments are recognised in the income statement. The effect of the transition is 
to increase derivative financial instruments by £4,320,000 with a corresponding increase in revenue reserves at 1 April 
2010. The fair value of the instrument is taken to be its market value. 

Explanation of material adjustments to the cash flow statement for 2010 

There are no material differences between the cash flow statements presented under IFRS and the cash flow 
statements presented under UK GAAP other than the changes in format between UK GAAP and IFRS. 
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UK GAAP Company Balance Sheet 
as at 31 March 2010 
 
 2011 2010 
 Note £000 £000 
 
Fixed assets 
Investments 2 74 74 
  ______ ______ 
 
  74 74 
  ______ ______ 
 
Current assets 
Debtors and prepayments 3 909 271 
Cash and cash equivalents  13,637 10,932 
  ______ ______ 
 
  14,546 11,203 
 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 4 (1,388) (617) 
  ______ ______ 
 
Net current assets  13,158 10,586 
  ______ ______ 
 
Total assets less current liabilities  13,232 10,660 
  ______ ______ 
 
Net assets  13,232 10,660 
  ______ ______ 
 
Capital and reserves 
Share capital 5 5,500 5,500 
Profit and loss account 6 7,732 5,160 
  ______ ______ 
 
ShareholderÕ s funds  13,232 10,660 
  ______ ______ 
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 20 July 2011 on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P K Timms, Chairman A M Lynch, Group Finance Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Notes to the UK GAAP parent company financial statements 

1. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost accounting convention and in accordance with 
applicable UK accounting standards.  A summary of the more important accounting policies, which have been applied 
consistently, is set out below. 

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the parent company's profit and loss account has not been 
included in these financial statements. 

(b) Fixed assets 
Fixed asset investments represent interests in subsidiary undertakings and are carried at historical cost.  

(c) Operating leases 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. 

(d) Taxation 
The Group is elected into tonnage tax.  However, certain activities within the Group are liable to corporation tax.  
Accordingly, the charge for taxation is based partly on ship tonnage and partly on the result for the year and takes 
into account tax deferred because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and 
accounting purposes.  

(e) Dividend to Shareholder 
Where circumstances permit, a dividend is payable annually to the Company by each of the main operating 
companies.  The quantum of the dividend is dependent on the estimated profit which is expected to be achieved for 
the financial year and the cash position of each company. 

2. Investments 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Shares in subsidiary undertakings 74 74 
Loans to subsidiary undertakings - - 

______ ______ 

74 74 
______ ______ 

The Company owns the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of CalMac Ferries Ltd., NorthLink Ferries Ltd., Cowal 
Ferries Ltd., Rathlin Ferries Ltd. and David MacBrayne HR (UK) Ltd. 

CalMac Ferries Ltd. operates the Clyde and Hebrides ferry services, NorthLink Ferries Ltd. operates the Northern Isles 
ferry services, Cowal Ferries Ltd. operates the Gourock/Dunoon ferry service and David MacBrayne HR (UK) Ltd. 
provides human resource services to the companies with the Group.  Rathlin Ferries Ltd. which formerly operated the 
Ballycastle/Rathlin ferry service is currently dormant.  All of these companies are incorporated in Scotland. 

CalMac Ferries Ltd. owns the whole of the issued ordinary share capital of Caledonian MacBrayne Crewing (Guernsey) 
Ltd., which administers its offshore crewing arrangements.  NorthLink Ferries Ltd. owns the whole of the issued 
ordinary share capital of NorthLink Crewing (Guernsey) Ltd. which administers its offshore crewing arrangements.  
Both of these companies are incorporated in Guernsey. 

3. Debtors and prepayments 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Other debtors 62 190 
Prepayments and accrued income  841 46
Amounts due from subsidiaries  6 35

______ ______ 

 909 271 
 ______ ______
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4. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Trade creditors 105 19 
Other creditors and accruals 361 247 
Corporation tax 2 48 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 920 303 

______ ______ 

1,388 617 
______ ______ 

5. Share capital  

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Authorised 
6,800,000 Ordinary Shares of £1 each 6,800 6,800 

______ ______ 
Allotted issued and fully paid
5,500,002 Ordinary shares of £1 each 5,500 5,500 

______ ______ 

6. Profit and loss account 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Balance at beginning of year 5,160 1,625 
Retained profit for year 2,572 3,535 

______ ______ 

Balance at end of year 7,732 5,160 
______ ______ 

7. Reconciliation of movements in shareholder’s funds 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Profit for the financial year 2,572 3,535 
Dividends on shares classified in shareholder’s funds - -

______ ______ 

Retained profit 2,572 3,535 
______ ______ 

Net addition to shareholder’s funds 2,572 3,535 
Opening shareholder’s funds  10,660 7,125 

______ ______ 

Closing shareholder’s funds 13,232 10,660 
______ ______ 

8. Financial instruments

The Company has a fuel hedge in place which relates to the ferry services provided by the operating companies within 
the Group and which covers the period to 31 March 2011.  The hedge relates to a significant percentage of the 
forecast marine fuel volumes over this period and this percentage can be increased at any time should market 
conditions indicate that this may be beneficial.  Under the terms of the hedge, the hedge provider takes the risk of the 
impact of fuel price movements, and consequently there is no risk to the Company. 

Under the terms of the respective public service contracts under which the main operating companies provide ferry 
services, the risk related to the movement on fuel prices on the volume not covered by fuel hedge at any time is taken 
by the Scottish Government. 

The Directors consider that these arrangements provide appropriate stability of cost base in this significant expense 
area.
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9. Other financial commitments 

The Company has a number of operating leases in respect of motor vehicles.  The annual commitments in respect of 
these leases are as follows: 

2011 2010 
£000 £000 

Motor vehicles 
Leases which expire: 
within one year 11 3 
between two and five years 26 47 

______ ______ 

37 50
______ ______ 

10. Related party transactions 

As the parent company of the David MacBrayne Group, (the financial statements for which can be found on pages 16 
to 39), the Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed 
transactions and balances with entities which form part of the Group. 

11. Ultimate controlling party 

The Company is wholly-owned by the Scottish Ministers. 
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